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LbO ETHNIC FACTOR IN THE 1979 AND 1983 ELECTIONS
IN BONDO AND GEM - KENYA

By

Pateick 0. Alila

ABSTRACT

This discussion is based on the prior analysis of social trans-
formation in hzoland with specific¢ reference to Bondo and Gem. It is
aimed at demonstrating the role of Luo ethnie factor in modern elections,
in particrlar the 1979 and 1983 General Electioas in the two constituen-
cies.

The discussion re7eals a dominant role of Luo ethnie factor in
these elections. This is parti-ularly trme regarding participation in
elections in that organisation.of the electorate is based on clan allegiance
under- the influence of elders. Likewire, in terms gaining a leadership
position elan suppcrt is signifi~ant. It is however not sufficient because
there is also a <onsideration of modern elements especially the contribu-.,
tion by the leadership aspirant to development effort in the «onstituency.
This latter consideration can be said to form a basis of influence of
the odacated elite in electoral politics, while the elders derive their
influence from traditional ncrms.

The evidence shows that lo~al leadership comprising both the
elders and the educated elite play a ~rucial role in election campaigns.
3y the way they interpret the elention issues they also determine the
Quteome of elections. A major issue indicating this is “he political
position of Odinga in Lucland which has contributed to the rise and fall
of various political leaders in a number of constituencies in Luoland
not jost 1n Gem and Bondo. This has resulted in perscnality eult in
which ethniecity is a crucial —ariable and has become a promiment feature
of Lwo politics.
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Prelude tc the 1979 Elections«

The happenings in the period between the 1974 and 1979 Elections
prcvide useful backgrecund to a proper understanding of the 1979 Elections.
The happenings revelve around the choice between two alternative leader-
ships fcr the Luc breadly viewed as pro-Odinga and anti~Odinga. And the .
isswe of which leadership can best serve’the interests of Luo unity and
progress within the naticnal political context.

It shculd be ncted tc begin with that immediately after the 1969
Electicns, an attempt was made tc force cne common leadership which did not
exclude Ocingz ahd his detained cclleagues in the interest of Luo unity and
pregress. But as the 1974 elections cpproached a divisicn started emerging
which increasingly wicened thereafter such that by the time cf the 1979
electicns cne could cefinitely talk cof there being twc opposing camps.
¢n the cne hand there were those who werc for and on the other hand these
against Luo leadership-headed by Odinga.

The divisicn leading tc the actual rift in Luo leadership started
taking roct among the Luo MPs following the 1974 electicns. This can be
attributed in part tc actions by the Executive which blantantly favoured
individuals well known to be in the anti-Ocinga camp and at the same time’
were apparently meant to spite thcse censidercd to be in the Odinga camp.

Thus Omamo after losing in the 1974 electicns in Bondo to Ougo
he was still appointed a nominated MP. The trend is further borne out by
ministerial appcintments. It was a ccmmen practice at that point in time
in Kenya's political histcry that a candidate who beat a cabinet minister
in parliamentary electicns ended wp being appointed a minister. Acase
in point is Daniel Mutinda who beat Npala Mwendwa in the 1974 election
and was appointed a minister. Ouzo received no such recognition. On
the ccntrary, it seemed that it was Omamo who lost that was rewarded.

In the same vein in South Nyanza it was Okiki Amayo who was
appcinted an assistant minister while Onyango Ayodo and Odero Jowi, both
fcrmer cabinet ministers, who had lost in the 1969 elections but re-
captured  their seats in 1974, were not reinstated tc ministerial appoint--
ment. The cammon Lelief particularly in Lucland was that the two failed
to be reinstated because they had develcped leanings tcwards the Odinga camp.
It was in fact argued that without Ocinga‘’s blessing they could not have

regained their seats.

The theoreticel framework and the historical basis fcr the analysis

in this paper are in WP 403. I wish to acknowledge financial support
frem the Ford Founcdation for fieldwork and thank J. Juma, B. Okaro and
K. Ocko who worked as my Research Assistants.
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The maneuvres of anti Odinga MPs and their supporters became
clearly evident through KANU party elections. They came out openly and
centested the 1977 KANU elections making deliberate effort to build their
own independent support. These elections for party re-organisation from
the grassroots therefore led te ascession to party leadership, at the -branch
level and below, by these anti Odinga elements while Odinga himself was
excluded from the local level party leadership.

Likewise Odinga was excluded from the abortive party elections
for national officials. But the interesting point here is that instead
of ganging up behind Odinga individual Luo leaders fer example Omame, Okero
and Ayski, independently of Odirga, vied for national party posts. This can
be ceen as signalling their strcngspirations provide an alternative -
leadership for the Luos not only at the local level but at the national -
level as well } It is signifieant to also notec in connestion with these
national party elections that Omamo as one of the leadership aspirants did
not make up his mind at the ou#%set as to which party post he should run
for and consequently switched from wanting to contest the party :Trea-
surership to Secretaryship. This would seem to indieate that although
like the other leadership aspirants they may have had supporters at the
community level they had not bnilt political power base above that level
and were apparently not sure of themselves.

The fact that two groups of leadership had emerged, one which
supported and the other did not support Odinga, was also clearly manifested
by the wyugi‘'s Declaration. At a public rally organised by Onyango Ayodo
at Oyugis, thc largest trading sentre in his Kasipul/Kabondo sonstituency
those present declared that Odinga should be the unanimous leader of the
huo. Those in the cpposing camp did not want tc  entertain the idea
and therefore challenged this stanee. This is evidenced for example by
Okiki Amayo's vehement rebuttal statement that Odinga should accept him

as a leader or "go tc hell"z.

1 The Weekly Review 30/9/83 p. 21.

2. . . . . .
Atieno-Odhiambo, The Luos in Politics in African Perspectives,
No. 1 Sept.-Oct. 1977. p. 32.
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The opponents of Odinga having gained scme measure of cohesion
started going on the effensive. There werec for instance the rallies
which this grcup held at the heacdquarters in South Nyanza, Kisumu and Siaya,
the three Luo districts. The key figures in this move were Okero and Amayo.
The essence of their divisive campaigrn was that the Luo were disloyal to
the Presicdent, the government and KANU implying that they themselve§ and
their followers were not. Okero who was the leader of the group pu% the
matter pointedly saying that the meetings were being held in response to
the challange pcsed by Odinga throuch the Luc Union and were therefore meant

"to end the Odinga myth once and fer all"s.

The Luc Union was indeed the next target of their offensive
haviny perceived Odinga threat as coming from that quarter. 1In March 1978
they blocked a delegaticn of the Luc eommunity arranged by the Luc Unien
to visit the President at State House to pledge loyalty to him, the
government and the ruling party KANU. ' Another move was to change the leader-
ship of the Union by installing a caretaker committee headed by Odongo
®mamo in place of Paul Mboya and his eonstitutionally eleeted committee,
The caretaker ccmmittee was surprisingly registered, despite vehement
opposition by the Paul Mbuya ccmmittee and the Luc community generaily
and it started asserting contrcl over the two main institutions of the
Unicn namely, Ramogi Institute of Advanced Technclogy (RIAT) and the
Ofafa Memorial Hall.

The Luo cummunity received zll this with great dismay seeing
the trend of events as the work of outside forces bent on dividing the
community. There was consequently a strong negative feeling against members
of the group within the ccrmunity who were by now being regarded as dissi-
dents. As regards specifically those  of them whc were MPs an idea that
they should not be returned to parliament in the next general electicons
was gaining pcpularity very fast.

There was, however, a dramatic turn »f events and a new climate
in Kenya's pclitics which affected the political cutlcok of the nation,
the Luc cammunity included. This emanated frcem the sudden death of President
Kenyatta in August 1978 which led to the accession to the presidency of

his vice president, Daniel arap Moi. As the new President, Mci made certain

® The Weekly Reviasw. 26/5/78

Ibic.
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politically strategic moves shich had direct implications for the Luo
community. The first move was the release of all political detainees which
meant that both Achieng' Oneko and Wascnga Sijeyo who had served long deten-
ticn terms were set free. Secondly, after staying in the politicel ccld
for over ten years Odinga got a political appointment as the Chairman of
the Cotton Lint and Seea Marketing Board. These two actions, especially
the latter, raised very high hopes within the Luo community. of political
rehabilitation and an end to the KPO stigme which had led to virtual

political banishment of the Luo.

The prenouncement of the new Nyayo era cf President Moi had a
apecial meaning to the community. It was seen as a God-given cliance for
the cemmunity to come back to the pdlitical mainstream as the new era
would bring -to an end the collaberation between dissidents within the
community and-outside forces that had werked t the detriment of the
cammunity. It must have therefore ccme as a rude shock when after cnly
a few months the "issue of KPU was agrain revived to bar Odinga from contes-
ting KANU party elections fer national leadership. Furthermore the
elections seemed to favour the dissident group led by Okero who was able
to secure the post of KANU party national Chairmen. The mood of high
expectations within the ccmmenity consequently changed to cne of cautious-
ness and it became a matter of concern as tc what the future hclds for
the community in the new era. This concern was the major underlying
factor in the 1979 elections held shortly after the new regime assumed
power and through which it was seeking from the eléctrorate its awn

mandate to rule the country.
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The 1979 Election in Gem and Bondo
GEX
_» Candidates

The line up of candidates for this pnrticular election
was as follows:- Omolo Okero, Oticno .imbala, Ongili Owiti,
Okeno Osare, Olusnde K'0Oduol, Obare .siko and Owino Ger. It
con be observed to begin with that compared specifically to the
previous 1974 election the number of candidates incrcased by
one and were therefore even more than in 1974, Thus the 1979
election became the one with the highest number of condidates in
the history of Gem constitucncy. This can be attributed mainly
to leadership crisis which had become particularly acute within
Gem itself, & useful pointer to the crisis is the fact that
small group interests organised around clans and even sSubclans
became dominant groupings in the 1979 election politics therchy

precipitating an amorphous political situction.

The diversity of polivical groupings is borne out by
the clan origins of the candidates vor this clection., If we
consider {irst the two main clan lines of division we find
that Kojuodhi had a disproportionntely large number of candi-
dates than Kwenda, Five candidates viz, Omolo Okero, Okeno
Osare, Olwande K'0Oduol, Obare Asilko and Owino Ger all came
from Kojuodhi line while only two viz., Ongili Owiti and Otieno
Aambala belong to Kwenda line, i closer look at Kojuodhi
candidates reveals that three of them, Omolo Okero, Obare .isiko
and Owino Ger coac from Kagola clan while both Okeno Osare and
Oluande K'Oduol are from Kakwany, It will be recalled that Kagol
oand Kekwany groups have a common ancestry from .dhaya,. This
has been the basis of a long standing alliance which has been
considered the major factor contributing to Kojuodhi dominance of
leadership in Gem. But it is in fact Kagola which due to
cunning manoeuvres has over the years had an upper hand in this

“ominance and therefore reaped benefits and not Kakwany. This
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has increasingly become a matter of concern within Kakwany

which has resulted in a growing feeling of piuclry between the
two traditional allies. Kakwany producing its own candidates
can be Scen as partly a2 conSequence of this rivtlry. Likewise
rivalry between Kagola lineages helps explain why Kagola
produced as many as threce candidates, It is interesting to

note that the homes of two of the candidates, Omolo Okero and
Owvino Ger, are liternlly separated by fences, In othcr words

even Xagola clan itself is not 2 homogencous entity,

In the case of Kwenda candidates clan position is
quite clear, Ongili Owiti comes from Kanyikwaya while Otieno
ambala belongs to Kathowo, the arch rival of Kanyikwaya within
Kwenda, The only complicating factor is the common belief not
only within Kwenda but in the whole of Gem that lmbala is
gtrictly spooki_g a "Jadak" (sctiler) from Alego (Ja Alego) and
is thoreforc not by origin genuinely iron Kwenda or Kathomo °
and oven Gem for that watter, Therc are those who argue that
his 1inks with .ilego have in fact been very strong. They say,
for exanple, that his brother went back to ilego and scttled on
their lond there, Also it is-2lleged that ambala himself when
going {for further studies abroad solicited financial- contributions
fron Alego people which he apparently valued more than help fronm
Gent people. This was interpreted as an attitude of neglect
towards Genm people, ond an indication that he cherished bleod

ties to Alego.

The existence of a2 leadership crisis in CGem is evident
fron the fact that most of the candidates supported by the
diverse groupings were political unknowns even within the consti-~
tuency, Those known politically included first, Ouolo Okero who
had been the MP for Gem since 1969, had been o' cabinet minister
and was the KaNU party national chairmen. Secondly, Otieno

Ambala who contested the 1974 clections and came second to Omolo
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Okero was well known politically in Gem especially due to his
continued political campaign cven after losing in that election.
Thus wnlike Okero who was known politically both within and
outside Gen he was only well kuown within the constituency.
Thirdly, Oluande K'Oduol, received publicity in Luoland through
association with Odinga in the KPU JIlollowed by his detention
and olso working for Lolwe Bus Scrvices., He was therefore to
sone extent known politically in Gen ond in most parts of Siayn

and Kisunu districts.

The renaining candidantes were political unknowns even
within Gen., It can however be said that Okcno Osare'!s nane was
well known both within and outside Gen due to the fact that he
had been Provincial Comnissioner in the North-Eastern Province
and subsequently was appointed Chairmon of the Kenya Sugar
Authority. Ongili Owiti was also known but to a very linited
extent and mainly in South Gen where he had participated nctively
in haranbee projects notably the Ranula Health Centre, In addi-
tion he was a general mannger of Coca - Cola Bottling Conpany and had
been actively involved in a 1leading role in the canpaign for
Anbale in the 1974 election. Thuc the offices they held and
exposure to the public could contribute to relatively nore people
knowing Okeno Osare and Ongili Owiti than Obare .\siko and Owino
Ger who were the least known even within Gem itself, But all
these four including even Oluande K'0Oduol were politically un-
known quantities in Gem politics., This is in contrast to Omolo
Okero who wes well known politic2lly in the whole of Gen and
had o strongho’d in North Gem. Likewise Otieno .mbala who had

built a strongiold in South Gen was also known politically in Gen.
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Tlection Coopaigns

It can be argued that campaign rallies constitute the
best indicator of campaign organisation o election candidates
in a situation where snnll group interests based on clan cleavages
doninnte politics. It is in these canpaign neetings that one
can identify interactions of a political nature because other
interactions tend to be personal in nature., But even wmore
inportant is the fact that the latter interactions are haphazard
and rarely occur in an organised pattern and in places accessi-
ble to the researcher, They therefore do not ecsily lend then-
selves 1o systematic observation, . special ottention was there-~
fore paid to the organisation of campaign neetings in the Gen

election a8 well as Bondo.

The nost striking fact about the 1979 Gem election
neetings is that Omolo Okero and Otieno .lmnbala held individual
separate campaign rallies. The renaining five candidates (5~
Group) viz, Okeno Osare, Ongili Owiti, Oluande K'0Oduol,

Obare .siko and Owino Ger held joint rallies sharing the

sane platiorn. It was said thet all this cone about because

of Okero since he was the one who insisted on holding his ©oWn
separate neetings while all the other candidates were for the

idea of joint rallies. It was then that Otieno imbala in view

of the step taken by Okero Tollowed suit and also asked the
adainistration for his own separate nmeetings. Thus Gen candidates
orgenised three separate rallies, Okero's rallies, Anmbzala's
rallies and rallies of the 5 ~ Group. This had certain signifi-

cant implications,

In the first place politically unknown candidates had
n separate platform from those politically known., This was inter-
preted by the 5 - Group to be out of fear on the part of Okero and
nubala of being exposed in joint rallies, In the case of

Okero it was seen as a clear denonstration of his aloofness fron
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the people and a design to avoid his poor political record

being discussed in his presence. s for aAmbala it was argued

that it clearly showed that he is not from Gen and could not
therefore face the electorate in the presence of those genuinely
ron Geu. Those in the 5 - Group repeatedly stated in their rallies
that they are the "Jogem isili! (the true sSont of Gei) who were
hunbly facing Gen people together 2s neabers oif one family unlike
the other two. It was fron auong then they argued, that the MP

for Geua should come. Thus whether a candidate was genuinely fron
Gen or not developed into an elecection issue particularly in refe-

rence to fLinmbala.

Secondly, since the condidntes were facing the sane
electorate organisation of separate rallies affected the timing
of the neetings. The administration was concerncd about providing
adequate security if more thar onc neeting was arranged to take
place sinul tancously. The rallies were therefore arranged -for
different dates and times or the day. The rallies of the 5-Group
and those of Anbala took place ot either 10 A,M. to 1 P.M. or
2 P.M, to 5 P.M. Okero's rallies were nll held between 11 A .M.
and 2 P,M. and were fewer in number than those orf all the other

candidates,

Thirdly, in the case of Okecro and Lnbela who organized
separate rallies they were able to have proninent personalities
supporting them listed in their rally pernit to speak in support
of their candidacy. Thus Wasong~ Sijeyo fecatured prominently
in Anbala's meetings while Prof. B, Ogot who was designated
Chairnan of Okero's meetings 2nd his wife supported Okero. Both
Okero and .nbala also had loudspecakers in their rallies. In
contrast, in the 5 - Group rellies which were chaired by the
Yela D,0., only the candidates spoke Tollowing o secret ballot
draw, and there was no loudspeaker systen. Yet the 5 - Group
rallies tended to be bigger compared to those of Ambala and Okero
because each of the five candidates attracted some supporters while
Ambala and
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Okero's rollies which attrocted mainly their own supporters, and

were concsequently smaller in size,

Fourthly, in terms of location of the rollies there
were certoin strategic places in the constituency notably Yala,
Kombare and Dagoyicr, where 2ll the candidates held rollies,

Yala is the centre of the whole of Gem while Xambare ond Dagoyier
which is near Akala HMarket, are important cenires in South Gem.
These are the places of greater sociaVinteraction and also where
most opinion lefacrs 2re frequently found., Candidntes there-
fore try to copture support in these places to enhonce their

popularity constituencywide.,

Rollies were nlso held in plaoces where hornmbee projects,
for example o health centre is sited., ¢andidates who contributed
towards the project would be enphasising their concrete action ond
urging the electorate to reward them by voting Tfor them. Their
opponents on their part would be arguing that if they are given
support nnd win the election they would likewise bring benefits
to the arca and sonmetimes pronising even greater things., In other
words those wlio contributed would be trying to consolidate their
support while their opponents would be trying to capture some of
that support. There would similarly be struggles Tor support in
places where a ccndidnte has strong support by virtue of kinship
or clan ties, In that case condidates from outside that kinship

network would be trying to penetrate it.,

The woy a candidote has organised his cowmpaign to goin
the necessary support was nanifested in the composition of the
rallies and the goings on during the rally. It was cleoarly
evident that candidates with a strong compoign organisation
transported some of their supporters to mos+t of their rallies.,
One could therefore see tihese stne supporters in nearly all the
rallies of that condidate. This was especially so just beforc
the rally when people from the surrounding area had no% core Iox
the rally. These supporters would be singing and daneing in
proise of their cendidote to be joined 1lcter by supporters _ron
that area., Thus one could gauge the support for a dandidate

a particular area by observing this core group of supporters =
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hov it swelled. .nd going from rally to rally one could identify
the strong and even leading candidates., It was not difficult to
noke such observations in the case ox Okero and ambeala who
organised separate rallies, For instance the strong support for
anbalc in South Gen and the unpopularity of Okero in that area
was abundantly clcar from the poor turnout for the latter's

rally at Dagoyier near ikala nmarket. In the case of Anbala therc
was a large turnout 2and so ruch fanfrre that it sccomed norce of a
victory celebration than a coopaign rally. But going to North
Ger, Okero's stronghold dAnbala had to be content with relatively
nodest turnouts. At any rate, the overall inmpression from all their
rallies in both North and South Gen is that they were the two

leading candidates,

If we turn to the 5 - Group, the following of each of
the various candidates showed that the two leading candidates in
that group were Ongili Owiti and Okeno Osare, .As in the case of
Okero and .inbala it was interesting to watch the contrasting strength
ol following for Ckeno Osare ond Ongili Owiti in North and Sonth Gen,
tespective strorglwlis., Another useful discussion to consider
in judging the strength of the candidates in the 5 - Group
rallies is that, unlike Okero and Lnbalas rallies, the supporters
of the Tive candidates were nixed., Since the supporters would
be cheering the candidate they support when he speaks, the
response oI the audience was an additional pointer to a candidate!s
s treng th., apart from having transported n relatively larger
nuanber of supporters than the other candidates Owiti had a
lively response during his caunpaign specches due to his oratorical
capability., Ia this regard Okeno Osare was no match for Owiti
and this helped Owiti gain a lot of support at his expense and

it proved to be Ckeno Oscre's main undoing.,

It could be argued, and this is essentially correcct,
that a candidate's financial resources was a najor factor deter-

oining the extent of transportation of supporters to rallies,
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It should however be renmerbered that it is not just ooney

alone that goes into keeping faithful followers in an election
conpaign. There is the kinship connection,  orgonisation
ability of the candidate, coupetent agents, contacts throughout
the constituency etc. These gualities in a caopaign organisation
are reflected in campaign rallies, For instance the denonstration
of strong support in rallies for Okero and Okeno in North Gen
and Anbola and Owiti in South Gen has to do more with their kin-
ship ties. 4Also if one looks closely at the conposition of the
rollies in Gen one Iinds that awong Owitils following there
were relatively more wonen and youth while Okero had woumen
gpenkers in his rallies, This has to do nore with the two

candidates! contacts and organisational ability.

Canpaoign Issues

The nain issues in this election campaign can be said

10 be directly linked to the question of what kind of leadership
Gen should have. There werce those who still supported Okero for
his education and nn2tional political status as 2 cabinet ninister.
But the feeling of most people in Gem was that Okero should be
replaced. The only problem was however that there was lack of
agreenent as to who was the suitable replacenent, This cbviously
lelft open the possibility that iv for some people the replacenment
was not suitable they would fall back on Okero,

The strong feeling that Okero should be replaced can
be explained in terns oi his relationship with his constituents,
In other words the Gen elector2te was cuestioning his political
record during the two terms he had served as MP of the area,
The nmain gquestion was his eontridbution to developnent of Gen.
Okero was seen by the majority of the electorate as not being
developnent conscious. There had hardly been any harcabee

organised by Okero and whenever there was any he contributed
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neagre sugs consicered unbecoming oi his status as a cabinet
ninister., Thus his poor perioruance in haranbee effort was

the main cry against Okero, Gen people wantea to remain in o
leading position in Luoland and therefore wanted nore schools,
hospitals, roads ete, These werc not bYeing built resulting in
a widesprecad conplaint that Genr was now dragging bhehind in deve~
lopnent, Developnent within Gea was therefore 2 major issue in

this election.

It was in the attenpt to find o suitable replacenent
to Okero that Gen people were faced with other questions of
leadership cualities, There was a general consensus thatl the
person replacing Okero should be developnent conscious, In
addition he should be social, close to his constituents and not
have the orrogance, aloofness, and " lnaccessibility of Okcro..5
Therc was however division ° ,amnong Gen people when it canme to
the question orf whether the person should be fron Kojuodhi or Kwenda, The
people of Xojuodhi wonted to nmointoin their old or the lur’ership while
Tuong the Iwenda, wio saw Qkero's foilure os providing then with a golden
chance to wrench the leadership fron Kojuodhi there was enthusiasn
to provide 2 Kwenda replacenent, There was also division, nainly
relating to inbala, over wnether the replacenent should be a
"Ja ilego" (settler fron .lego) or he should be a true son of
Gen genuinely Iron Gen, It should be added that although .nbala
was the strong candidate from Kwenda there was no consensus even
within Kwenda over his condidacy because of doubts over his clan

origin,

This discussion of leadership qualities spread beyond
the boundaries of Gen constituency and was linked to the issues
of leadership and unity @s well as progress in Luolaend., The
choice at this level was between pro-0dinga and anti-Odinga
leadership, The general feeling in Luoland was that Okero and
other anti -~ Odinga elements d-owd be replaced and the pro -

sdings forces within Gen . pressed for QOkero's replacenment

The Weekly RBeview 26/10/79
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nainly on this basis.6 As already . pointed out, for internal
reagons Gen people felt the need to replace Okero. The source
of problems with Gen people over choosing pro-Odinga leadership
was that it seemed to favour .inbala who had Odinga's blessing
and was also his son-in-law, Gen people were not agreed over
Ambala's candidacy as he was not favoured by Kojuodhi because

he belonged to Kwenda and was considered Ja .Alego by many people
in Gen., These were natters of divisjion within Gem as we have

geen,

BONDO
Candidates

There were three candidates contesting the 1979 elec~
tion in Bondo just as in 1974, The line up remained essentially
the same as Odongo Omano and Ougo Ochieng! remained the key
‘contentants, The only difference was the surprise appearence of
G. Jolang'o JAnyango on the political .scene . in Bondo., He was:
young, cories from Sakwa and was a political unknown while his
other two opponents had become household names in Bondo politics,
The desperate attenpts of Odinga to get into the race failed
at the eleventh hour., It could thus be only expected that this
elcction would be a repeat of the previous 1974 election with the
alignuent ol political forces rendining basically the sane des-

pite Jalang'o Anyango'!s candidacy,
Election Campaicns

The significant difference between the 1979 Bondo
election neetings and those of Gen is thot Bondo candidotes agreed
to joint rallies, s a natter of fact the rallies were not just
exclusively for parliamentary candidates, The civic candidates
in the location where the neeting wos being held were also
included and were the ones who £ddressed these rallies firsrt,

6.
Hilary Ng'weno, ed. "Election Hendbook 1979" Weekly Eevie
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They were then Tollowed by the parliamentary candidates who
spoke after 2ll the civic condidates had spoken. Thus in the
case of Bondo, Jzlang'o Anyango who was politically unknown

and the civic candidates were able to address large rallies

to which the majority must have been lured by the presence of
oparo and Omgo. They were therefore able to reach nore people
than would otherwise have becen the case irf these two pronincnt

candidates held separate neetings.

These bondo mectings had similarities with the neetings
organised by the 5 - Group in Gen, The 2dninistration chaired
the neetings in Bondo in the person of the locational chief,

Like in Gen the candidates also drew lots and the person who
picked number one spoke first rfollowed by the rest in a serial
order, It was strictly only tke candidates who spoke and there
was no prooinent personality speaking in support of any candidate
a3 was the case in Okero and .wabala neetings in Gen. JAlso there
was no loudspeaker systen in these nectings in Bondo which at
tines turned out to be very large rallies and there was difficul ty
Tollowing a candidate!s speech especinlly il he did not have o
loud voice., "But there was sinilarity between all Gen and Bondo
neetings in that they were located in strategic centres be they
narkets or sites of previous haranbee activity. The idea, as
already argued, would be to capture greater support by reaching

2 bigger portion of the electorate, There was also similarity
in terms of transportation of supporters to various rsllies
across the constituency. These supporters would arrive early

and engage in song and dance until the rally started and after
the rally. During the rally they would be actively chcering
their candidate such that in certein rallies where a candidate
had transported many supporters and was thercfore being wildly
cheered all through his speech one not familiar with the core
group of supporters could get the wrong impression that that is
that candidate'!s stronghold., If it was indeed that cendidate's

Stronghold then there would be deafening .applause and one could
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more easily make that mistake. But unlike Gemy in Bondo there was
often heckling of the other candidates giving the impression that
these others hed no support a4t all in that arefs Yet the others
did have supporters who were only afraid to stick out their
necks by shouting in their support lest they are roughed up by

the partisan crowd.

The situation in most Bondo meetings was that mainly
because of his ability to transport supporters in his lorries
Omamo had many people cheering hin during the rallies. There were
cases of heckling the other two candidates notably in the Uyouna

rally ot Mituri which resulted in a bitter exchange between
the other two candidates and Omano together with the administra-

tion. In short, judging from the rallies only, it seeued on
the face of it that Onano had widespreuad popular support in

Bondo constituency and looked a sure = Winner,

Conpaign Issues

In Bondo is where the nroblen of Luo leadership and unity
and especinlly the position of Odinga was still very uuch at
issue., Odinga's position becanc a natter or grave concern
particularly in view of the happenings following the 1974
elections that seened to favour lhis opponents and which culninated
in Odinga being barred yet again froc contesting the parliamentary
elections. The apparent inplication was that Odinga would be
conpletely ‘tanished froo even being an MP. of Bondo, an even-—~

tunlity which Bondo people were evidently not ready for yet.

The bone ol contention was consequently why Odinga was
being barred fron contesting elections and the prospects for
his rehabilitation. The blane was squarely put on Onano by
Odinga's syupothisers @s the one responsibvle for Odinga's plight.

He was scen as working together with aniti~Odingn forces,
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Tris was revealed according to thea by his role in the Luo

Union politics and his nomination to Farliament alter his

defeat in 1974. The defeat was regarded as a najor political
triucph’ for 0Odinga and therefore his nounination was viewced as
an attenpt to fight back. ..1so as regards going to Parliauent,
this was scen as contrary to the - wishes of Bondo electorate.
1t wos further clained that it was beccause of his presence in
Porlisnent-that the person elected by Bondo people had been
eclipsed., ™o conclusion errived at was that he had a personal
anbition of being Bondo MP an anbition also nanifested by his
aspiration to KaNU national leadership. Thus he was, it secened
obvious, the one working together with outside forces to bar
Odinge from contesting elections. On that account he should
therefore be rejected and a person without politicel anmbition as
Onano elected who would not block Odinga's political comeback,

The choice was therefore really betwcen Odinga and Onamo just as

in 1974.

There were in addition matters concerning Ouzo as the
outgoing MP for Bondo whie¢h were closely linked to this Odinga -
Onaro dilemna of choice. Quzo having had a parlianentary tern
after defeating Omaco in 1974 had had a disual political record
characterized n2inly by his quitness especially during parlia-
nentary debates., This aspect of his political record was the
Tocus of attack nmainly by supportcrs of Onauo who were opposed
to Odinga - OU70 czap. The performance of Ouse in haranbee
activity which had been worse comparad +to thot of Onano particu-
larly during the latter's 1969 —~ 74 tern 2s Bondo MP was also
the sutject of vcheuent attack by Onano supporters, The crux
of the matter as far &S Omano supporters were concerned was that
“ondo people should have a development conscious leader of Onario!s
calibre as their i7P, To then therefore the issue was not

choosing between 0dings or cven Ougo for that natter,and Onano.
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Rather, the issue was the contribution the person elected

would nnke towards developuent effort in Bondo.

It should however be borne in nind that natters of
developnent were not of najor concern in Bondo as they werec
in Gen., To be sure there was nention of probleans of cotton
production, water problen in Uyoma, transportation across the
lake fron Asenbo Bay to South Hyanza ete, But in Bondo it
was norec of a clash of persontclities and whatever natters
arose for discussion were inevitably linked to the person of
Odinga ond Omanmo in terns of their leadership positions not only

in Bondo but in the whole Luoland,
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1979 Election's Qutcone: A Conparative Analysis

A conparison of the results of the 1979 Election is
interesting iT one recalls btriefly historical and socio-ccoomodic
factors which resulted in diffcrences in social transiormation in
As argued earlier, although Jodak were incor-

Bondo and Gen,
porated inso Gen people, Gen hod less heterogenity in terns of
kinship network than Bondo. This is nainly due to the origin
of Gen people fronm one comron Ancestoy Gen,and having been ruled
os one locationnl unit following colonisation., In Bondo at the
cons tituency level nost of the kinship blood ties originate
from interaarriage across boundaries of locations, .LAs in the case
of Gem theso locations were ruled for nany years by the tolonial
adninistration but os separate entities,
"

The settlement of Gem people in the highlands and Bondo
people in the lowlands on the lake shores mecant differences in
natural resources endownexrd  which resulted in different ways of
earning livelihood, The significant point here is thati Gen
people took to sedentary agricul ture earlier and increasingly
grew more dependent on cultivation of crops for their livelihood
thean Bondo., The location of their settlement in proximity to
neighboring Luhyas who were mainly crop cultivators facilitated
this process, In addition there was mutual cultural influence
between the two ethnic groups and apart from intermarriage Gem

people incorporated Luhyas as "Jodak',

In terms of contact with European colonisers, Gem had initial
contzct, again through their Luhya neighbours, and then
collaborated with the colonisers in the subjugation of other areas
of Luoland including Bondo. The major consequence of this is
that Gem reaped a disproportionate share of benefite in terms

roads, education, etc.,, accruing from the establishment of the

colonial administration, This resulted in a markedly higher
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rate of social transformation in Gem evidenced by Gem taking a

lead in Luoland in terms of education and maize production,

The educated people of Gem participated in the colonial
administration by way of wage employment resulting in a generally
tavourable outlook towards that administration., Gem therefore
became conformist relative to Bondo which took @ frontline
position in both the economic and then political battles that
Africans started waging against the colonial administration in
the 1940s, It is the contention here that these different posi-
tiong emanated from the historical disparities between Gem and
Bondo., Another consequence has been observed in differences in
their perticipation in post independence politics. Thus the
1979 Election results can also be explained in terms of the

histerical and socio~economic developaent in Bondo. and Gem,

Focus ean Gem

The results of the election were that in Gem, Otieno
Ambala won collecting 13,664 votes. The runner up was Okero with
4429 votes, The votes won by the remaining five candidates were
ns follows: Osare 4,383, Owiti 2,634, Oluande X'Oduol 2,079,
Obare Asiko 260 ana Owino Ger 161, Thus Gem people elected
Ambala and replaced Okero as their MP,

It has already been pointed out that Gem people were
generrlly agreed that Okero should be replaced. This is indeed
borne out by the .fact that Okero lost heavily in this election
trailing the winner by a margin of almost 10,000 votes, The
growing unpopularity of Okero with the Gem electorate is further
indicated by the fact thet when elected MP for the Firsi time
in 1969 he had been given 77% of the votes .cast, After o
drop to 40% in 1974 by 1979 this had come way down to only
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16¢ of the votes cest.

As already indicated the feeling of resentment towards
Okero grew as a result of the type ol leadership he had provided
throughout the span ol ten years that he was Gem IIP, There
were widespread complaints that Okero was not developument cons-
cious meaning that his contribution towards harambece activity
left a lot to be desired., These complaints were heard even in the
North where he comes from while in the Seuth therc was a feeling

of complete neglect.

The actual basis ox these complaints was that Okero
had been a catinet minister not an ordinary MP since his
election to parliament in 1969. There was therefore much more
expected from him &% the constituency level than would normally
be the case if he was just an ordinary MP., Likcwise having
been chosen 2 leader of Luo MPs, being the highest ranking Luo
minister, and coming from Gem, there were very high expectations
about his leadership in the whole of Luoland. He unfortunately
did not live up to these expectations on both fronts and the
ceffects were mutually reinforcing in that shertcomings at the
constituency level were linked to those at the Luo community

level and vice versa,

He was for example accused of dividing not only Gem
people but elso the Luo community. The people of South Gem
Strongly feclt that Okero looked down upon them claiming that he
said they were backward and incapable of producing leaders of
his calibre. They therefore concluded that they were considered
less of Gem people than their kin in the Iorth from whom they
Were apparently being separated while to members of his Kagola
clan 1t was on embarassment, He was also scen as dividing the Luo
community due to his campaign together with Amayo against Odinga's
leadership in Luoland, Thus his approach to leadership seemed to

be one of division not unity.

** Atieno - Gdhiambo concludes that "Omolo Okero just did not
have the wkere Withal 4o 4ronslate his opportunity to 8
leedership of the mosses", See Atieno -~ Odhinmbo, "The Luos
in Politics", op., cit. p 31.
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There were additional problems with his lendership
style., Complaints that Okero would not grant audience for Gis-
cussions were heard everywhere in Gem., The story ran that if one
requested to see Okero, after being 2llowed in, Okero would
stand up in full view and turn around for the person to literally
see him, Any attempt to explain the purpose of wanting to see hinm
he would strongly rebufi saying that the person never asked for
any discussion but only to see him therefore only that much was
allowed and no more, The point that was being made in short
was thet for a leader, Okero was too proud, in accessible and too
impatient., This affected not - only Gem people but the Luo

community at large,

However, Gem people felt most concerned having elected
him twice as their leader and not realising henefits they hoped
would emanate from his leadership., They could not liken him
to great Gem leaders like Odera Ulclo, Odera Akong'o, Argwings-~
Kodhek etc, Wwho saw Gem people as one, Also these leaders
furthered the interests of Gem, keeping it in o pre-~eminent
position socio~economically, and were well renowned and respected
in 211 Luoland, ‘'hile because of these leaders Gen was shining
Okero'!'s leadership wdAs scen as & great let down as Gem becane

a laughing ~ stock in Luocland and Gem people felt disgraced,

But although the ccmpaign for replacement of COkero had
reached fever pitch at clection time the question that remained
unresolved wos with whom he was to be replaced, The problem can
be said to have arisen partly due to the fact that Gem had been
cxperiencing a high turnover of candidates during elections since
the time Okero was elected in 1969, Thus the opponents of Okero
in that year except Rading Omolo did not stand for elections

agnin in 1974, And in the following electior in 1979 only Ambala

Ibid
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fron among the five opponents of Ckero in 1974 stood for elec~
tion agair., Thus the nunber of cendidates increased and they

were virtually 211 new iaces lacking constituency wide popularity.
1t is irteresting to note for instance that Rading! had been
the rwaner up in 1969 and siailarly Aambala was the runner up
in 1974, seeming to suggest that veing a runner-up wade 2
dandidc te hopeful of winning and so nade a second try. But
they both had been very poor seconds considering the wide
margin of votes by which Okero beat thca. And Rading gave up
after 1974 which was his third attempt to get elected Genm P,
The implication here is that there had been no one candidate
who had distinguished himself in the political scene in Gen
who could be an 2utonatic replacement ior Okero, Hencc there

was the problem of who to choose in 1979 to becone Gen P,

As soon as it was declared that elections were to be
held in 1979 discussions started in Gem as to who was a suitable
replacenennt for Okero. Gen public opinion initially scened
very ouch against Ambala 2cceddng to the position of Gem MP
nainly because he was considered Ja Alego. Apart from Ambaln
it was only Okeno Osarc who was thought a strong contender by
nany Gen people. This is mainly due to the fact that with
Okeno Osare Gem people would get around the problem of replacing
Okero with a person who is not from Gem. Also, since he comes
fron Kojuodhi he was the likely ouster in keeping with the
historical trend of leadership in Gem., As 2 natter of fact
before the caumpaign proper started public opinion in Gen
Seened largely tipped ir. Okeno Osare's favour and it looked
like the real choice was between him and Okero. It was the
caopaign proper that seeus to have changed matters, As the
polling day dcrew nesr the choice was between Ambala and Okero.
This cane about because 2% was durin-: t.« «lection cunpoign thet

each candidate deployed his resources including personnel,
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finances, trensport etc, to drun wup Support for his candidacy
and thus it becqme evident who was a popular and who Was nod
a popular candidate., The election issues were discussed with
a view to knowing whet is the stand of each czndidate on them,
In nddition 2 condidate's record including even his personal
past was scrutinised, DBut the main concern remained performance
in public life., 1In the c&se of one who had been elected to

parlianent it meant that cendidate’s record as an NP,

As o natter of fact the poor record of Okero as the
MP Tor Gern was the major subject of discussion in the campaign
rallies., He was criticised for being a leader who did not work
closely with his constituents and the Luo comnunity as & whole.
The evidence of this as already pointed out was his virtual
lack of contribution to development effort which had resulted in
Gen, that used to be in a leadirg position in terms of development
in Luoland, lagging behind, Those running ag2ingt hin ctherelore
nade grent effort to convince the electorate that they would
offer a2 brand of leadership tha+t is totally different from that
of Okero. They were 2ll unanincus in urging Gen people not to
return Okero to parliament., But the 5 .- Group as we saw earlier
were telling the electorate that even Aubala should not be
elected to parlinament: The person to be elected to parliament

should be from fnong then being «™gen Asili,

Since Okero's contribution towards haranbee effort was
the key issue his opponents tried to demonstrate to the electorate
their suitability as replacements of Okero by way of pinpointing
their haranbee contributio s and/or promising to perforn
better than him in this regard. In this case Ambala had uore
to show than the rest of the candidates and was tnerefore way
ahead, Anbala had not given up after losing %o Okero in 1974.

He continued his canpaign in the irterin period mainly by way

of participation in and crganisation of harambee ueetings r:i.d
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caking substantial donations, This he did in both South and
Yorth Gen Lut directed more effort to the South. .11 the saune
he had covered so auch ground such that he could not really be
conpared to the other candidates an this score, However, one
can mention Owiti as the only other candidate who had nade
significant contribution towards harambee but this was n2inly
confined to South Gen, Owiti actuaslly greatly cuphasised his
role in haranbee effort calling hinself Owiti "Jagedo" (builder)
in reference to his initiative to build a school, a health centre
etc, He argued in the 5 ~ Group neetings that he was therefore
different from the other four because while they werc still only
prouising how they would contribute to developuent projects he
had already started, .4nd olthough the other four were olso Jogen
Asili he was the appropriate candidate to be voted in in this
particular election to continue his already started developnent

work,

The involvement of Owiti in harambee effort made hin
during the conpaign an increasingly serious contender for the
Gen seat, He had nore to show in this regard than Okeno Osarc
who for long before the official canpaign had been scecen a3 the
eppropriate replacenent for Okero, if an outsider, a Ja Alego,
was not to be allowed to represent Gem people, Owiti being a
true son of Gen also was 2 match for Okeno Osare, In addition
he had contributed to harambee which put him on 2 higher place
than Okeno Osare, In this regard then the comporison and hence

the choice was turning out to be between Ambala and Owiti,

Furthermore the oratorical ability of Owiti was an
additional advantage, In this respect he was clearly better
then even Ambala and hed Ambala joined the joint rallies he
would have had more to lose thon gain, It was only Okero who
could be his match in this regerd hed all the candidates agreed

to 4oint rallies, Owiti denonstrated his oratorical ability
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in the 5 ~ Group rallies where he swayed the crowd edsily with
his coupaign speeches, He was in this way able to greatly
outshine Okeno Osare, In foct 28 the compaign intensified
and Okeno Osare saw his support being eroded he nust have
concluded Owiti was the main cause, The rivalry beiween the twWo

of thenm actually became more bitter and they exchanged direct attacks

between then,

A najor attack on Okeno Osare that most of the candidates
nade and Owiti in particular kept harping on was the problenm of
sugarcanc marketing especially transportation and prices, Okeno
Osare before resignotion to campaign for the Gen seat had been
the Executive Officer for the Kenya Sugar Authority whichk is the
parastatal in choxge of production and mdrketing of sugsrcanec, He
therefore becane the torget of attack far problens believed to

have been caused by the organisation for which he worked,

In Gen these problenms afifected 2 sizeable proportion of
the electorate beccuse many people had taken to the growing of
sugarcane as a luerctive cash crop, Unfortunately it turned out
af terwards that the prices being paid were extremely low, It
was even worse for those growers who could not find uarket for
their cfne which was consequently left to dry in the fields,

In any caose to all the sugarcane growers the failure to get
the expected cash meant above all inabtility to pay school fees
for their children. The sugarcane issue was therefore guite
a sensitive one with the electorate ond one could easily see
the enthusietic response in rallies when it was being discussed,
It can therefore be said to have greatly contributed to Okeno's
support being eroded as the canmpaign progressed, In South Gen
in perticular 1t ceuld have been 2 major hinderance to Okeno
Osare building support there because of the feeling that they
had been the victius to a greater extent than those in North Gen,
The source of the problem was obviously the location of sugor-

cane factories, except the Rera jaggery, in North Gen, This put
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South Gen growers at a disadvantage because they either foiled
to narket their cane due to lock of transport or if transport was
found it neant low net earnings due to high transportation costs

not to mention the bad roads in South Gen,

The increasing loss of support by Okeno Osare did not
however mean an autometic gtin by Owiti. It neant increasing
goin for Aumbala, This was sioply because the overrlding objective
was to replace Okero and he was seen wore and nore as thc person
who could replace Okero. The exposition of shortconings of

Okeno Osare lowered his standing with the electorate,.

Owiti although 2 Jogen aAsili  was polteelly unknown
particularly in North Gem which was Okero's stronghold, It was
therefore unlikely that within the short campaign period he could
dislodge Okero in North Gem especially having entered the race
quite late., Anbala had gained some support there through haranbee
activity as already nentioned which now only needed censalidating.
In addition to be able to do that neant deploying financial end
personnel resources which again Ambala had to a greater degree
than 211 the other candidates including Owiti and even Okero
hinself, Anbale was thercfore the best bet in the realisation af

the Gea objective of replacing Okero,

In the period of officizl compaign the greutest advantage

Anbela had was the campaign personnel especially influential

Gen local leaders. They campaigned for him mainly because he
was the nost pronising candidnte in the task ©f replaceuent of
Okero. These leaders came from various parts of Gen, both fron
North and Souta. One that needs to be mentioned is Vasonga
Sijeyo who was a former NP of Gem and had only recently been
released from detention, The presence of these leaders in

anbala's rallZes served hin well, In view of the fact that he
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he is hinmself not an orator the presence of a person like
Sijeyo meant that the meetings were kept lively and the lis-
tepers could be swayed in support of imbala, 4s a natter

of fact in these neetings Anbala only introduced these leaders
who talked at length and he then briefly 2ddressed the neetings
in the end, It was not obvious as was the case in Okero's

neetings that the chief speaker was also the candidete,

These leaders also served an inportant purpose for

Anbala of enhancing his credibility by articulating his positiom
on various issues, It was 2 fairly easy  job for them portra-
ying Anbala to the electorate os a developuent conscious leader,
His contribution to haranbee was dramatised by coaoparing it to
Okero's, arguing that he had done nuch nmore than the incumbant
1P, Therefore, ii given a chance by being elected MP. he would
do nuch nore., Iven Anbala hiuself whenever he spoke this is the
point that he enphasised, The argunent he often nade was that
current politics involving natters of development i1s more diffi-
cult to handle compared to the politics for independence which
sinply meant shouting thnot *he Buropeans (Wabeberu) should go
away, iHe was talling the electorote that he was the right kind
of politicel lecader who would be useful when development is  the

central concern of politics,

[lowever when it ceqe to the issue of whether he is really
fron Gen or Alego, Ambala avoided saying anything apparently
sensing that he was vulnerable on this point. He instead relied
on the influential leaders particularly Sijeyo te corvince the
electorote on his behalil, This w2s no easy task given the conuon
belief -hat he was a Ja ..lego and that all his opponents were
really harping on this point, Sijeyo fto change public opinion
therefore, repeatedly explained Ambala's lineage in the cenpaign
rollies enphasising that Anbala is actuclly from Gen, But the

strongest point nade in Ambala's favour wos that Gen 2s is
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customary among  the Luo had "jodak" (settlers) who had
become accepted 8s Gen people for all practical purposes,

Anbala should therefore be no exception. IFurthermore a warning
was sounded that there was 2 danger of 2lienating this particular
group of Jodak fron the rest of Gen people and dividing Jogen.
Since this wes one of the nain accusations against Okero it
should therefsre be avoiced, There was alse the innediate real
danger for individual candidates of losing votes from this parti-
cular group in Gen. Condemnation of .mbala had therefore to be
done continousiy lest it is interpreted as 2 wholestle condenno-

tiwn of all Jodzk,

It wes apparently because of this cttack on Ambala as
being Ja .ilego which was considered personal that there were
scathing personal attacks on his oppoments during his rallies,
This was again done by the influential persons like Sijeyo
and wos painly directed towards candidates posing a threat to
Anbala's victory., The m2jor attacks were on grounds oi theflt
in previous ploces of work and immornlity in terns of marringe
or sexudl relations. controry to Luo custoris. The idea here
was to inforn the electorate thot the backgrounds of those calling
anbala Jo Alego were no better and actually nade them less suited

for leadership +than .nbala,

There was also the line of attack in terns of disposition
of Apbala's opponents towards Odingo which kept the issue of
Odinga's leadership and Luo unity very nuch live in the campaign,
a8 for Aumbola it was conconly understood that he had Odinga's
support being his son -~ in -~ law, The daughter of Odinga he had
married was actually present at his rallies nlthough she cade no
caupeign speeches, n the cese of Oluande, he was nccused of
having enbezzeled funds when working for Odinga's Lolwe Bus
Company ond they had therefore pnrted woys. This was snid to be

evidenced by the fact ‘that nlthough he was a former KPU Official
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he was cleared and others like him barred from contesting electiChS.
The implication was that somehow he had betrayed Odinga and the

Luo cause of univy.

Okero was likewise a2ccused of hoving betrayed Odinga
and Luo cause of Unity.with his divisive canpaigns conbined with
secret manouvres, Sijeyo charged that Okero had caupaigned and
got elected to parliament under the pretext .that he would Tight
for his release from detention but this was all lies. It was
due to the mercy of President Moi, he said, that he was finally
released, He in fact nade 2 point of thanking the President at
every rally., But even as Gen MP it was said Okero had not
furthered the Liuo cause of unity and consequently became unpopu~
lar within the connunity. Gen people should not thereforec elect
such a person despite his nuch talked about education., Sijeyo
scornfully added that he had not required that nuch education t¢

be a good parliamentarian, In any case Okero was not the only

OIlE WIIO Wad cQulu Lol LAuwvela Liwoddlf wod demroes Swom draa

and his wife waos teaching those who would becone lawyers like
Okero, It is useful to add here that the other opponents of
Okero also strongly attacked the glorification of his education,
specifically his being a lawyer, Owiti for exanple argued in

referente t0 Owino Ger that a lawyer had failed Gen people and
should not therefore ve given a chance.

These personal attacks it should be pointed out were
not confined to .nbala's rallies, They were quite conmon in

the 5 - Group rallies as well, naking the 1979 election in Gen
full of sceer campaigns., It was only in Okero's rallies that

an attenp? was nade to keep clear of personal attacks. Okero in
particular avoided making this kind of attacks concentrating in

his speecaes on asking for votes. He enphasised that the Luo
connunity &nd in particular Gem was honoured by his eppointment

to higk ofrice in the party ande cabinet post., He also pointed out
projects whosg realisation he said he was responsible Tor such cs

Yala Rural Health Centre, Sicya District Hospital, supply of
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electricity to Yala and Siaya etc,

The other speckers in Okero's rallies olso dwelt at
length on the fact that he was 2 cabinet ninister which was an
honour for Gem. They also nade reference to Okero's educaé-~
tion and the claia that he was proud. They especidlly Mrs, Grace
0got, argued that they saw nothing wrong with all this because
it was cheoracteristic of a person from Gen and this was very
well known in all Luoland. They were not however able to
coapletely ovoid person2l attacks which they mostly conveyed by
way of Luo idious., The nain point of the attacks was the
involvenent of Sijeyo in the campaign in support of Anbala and
the backing that Odinga wns apparently giving inbala, 0Odinga
and his former XPU followers including Sijeyo werc criticised
for having lert the government and the feeling sitrongly exprcessed
that Sijeyo and especiglly Odinga should leave Gen pcople alone
to nake their own choice of who to represent then. an ex-
chief said of Odinga that he should stop going around Genm telling

people "vote {or the husband of ny daughter",

A natter that was also of great concern within the

Okero camp in perticular was the wealth that Ambala was having
and especially the finonces that he deploycd for the campaign.
Okero's supporters argued that those who are wealthy are needed
in a country but in the economic sphere 2nd not in the political
law-naking cphere which they should leave for troined lawyers
like Okero. 1In other words that there should be a division of
labour whereby Okero can be left to play his role and Ambala

will also have 2 role to play but not to replace Okero.

It was not possible 2as in any other constituency in
Kenya to ascertain the campaign expenditure of esach candidate
but one could easily get the impression that Ambala spent aore
tioney than all the other candidates. The large number of people

in kis coopaign organisation especislly youth wingers nust have
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neant spending large suns of noney to keep them on the campaign
treil, There were 2also the campnign agents distributed all over
Gem who lianised with subclan leaders. These needed noney for
thenselves and campaign noney to be distributed within their

areas of operation.

* The lack of the necessary financial resources was there-
fore o conspicuous contrast between the canmpaign of the rest
of the candidates and Ambala's cawpaign. This was quite telling
in their cawmpaign organisations which unlike that of Anmbala were
confined to certoin areas especially the area of clan origin of
the particular candidate. Even Okero who was the closest rival
of Lwmbala in this respect had his caupaign organisation concentra-
ted in North Genn, In South Gem he had only iniluential individuals
who had been his staunch supporters over the years canmpsigning
for him. "It is also useful to add that all was not well with
the clan basis of Okero's canmpaign organisation in North Gen due
to the death of Mzee Sinon Nyende just before the election
canpnign. Nyende had been for many years quite influential in
Gen especinlly North Gem. But above all he had becone a living
cult of rule over Gen by the Kagola clan and the clan's cohesive~
ness was therefore embodied in his person. This was denonstrated
in the 197« Election when he nobilised voters for Okero, He
sunnoned influential clders, especislly from Kagola clan, %o his
home before the elections adminishing then that Okero nust be
returned to parliament as the-Gen MP in keeping with the tradition
of Genm leadership cowing fron Kagola, The inplication of his~
death was thererfore that Okero could no longer counton a cohesive
force ol supportaf eders especially within his clan and nuch
less fron the rest of North Geun. - Indeed this was the cose going
by the disproportionately large nuaber of candidates fron North
as coupared to Socuth Gen, - not to mention that Kagola clan itself
had nore than one candidate, It can also be szid that following
these developnenis it becane easier especially in lNorth Gen +o

openly question ~he tradition of leadership coming fror Kzgola,
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Those not rrom Kagola were therefore ready to Fform an alliance
with tre other Gem clans to wrench the leadership frou Kagola,
This wes a welcoae turn of events to Kwendna people especially,
seeing it &s an opportunity to also partake ol overall Gen
leadership. They expressed open defiance towards Kagola
people in particular but not to the other sub clans of Kojuodhi
with which they too saw it was in their interest to forge an
elliance against Kegola, All the same despite forging an alliance
with the rest of Kojuodhi clans Kwenda stend was that it wes
high time Gen leadership ' shifted not just frou Kojuodhi but
fron North Gen to their location in South Gewn. They were never -
theless abtle to See eye to eye with North Gen people due to the
coanon overriding interest of replacing Okero, .« candidate fron
the South, .nbala, was nost prouising so it was necessary to

rally behind hia.

To sunnarise, .mbala was able to win this particular
election nainlv because the timing of his strong candidacy
concided with the gquest in Gen for a leader to replace Okcro,
The replacement of Okero was the overriding objective. This is
even reflected in the nmood in Gen in terms of the willingneds
to withdraw support from Okero who was o cabinet ninister and
national party chairman, was a truc son oi Gen and had glemo-
rous educational background that Gem people had always cherished,
They instead opted for a candidate venturing into national politics
for the first tiwme, whose clan origins within Gean they were questio

ning and whose education was not so glamorous compared to Okero,

Gen peole were in dire need of o leader unlike Okero who
is development conscious, could take initiative in haranbee effort
and ooke significant contributions. They also wanted a lender
whom they could easily relate to and behind whon they could unite
if the developmental goal was to be realised. They therefore

resented 2 leadership characterised by aloofness and arrogance
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which at the sane time olso fostered division 2aongst Gen people
and even the Luo connunity at large., They could not with such
a leadership forge chead in developnent natters, Thus they could
not renlisc the hope they still harboured that Gen could as until
the death of Argwings-~Kodhek occupy a pe emaent position in

Luoland and not be disgraced in the —eyes of the Luo connunity .

Loong the candidotes vying for the Gen seat in 1979
Anbala was the strongest candidate and received the greatest
support above all because he could beat Okero, In other words
his candidacy provided Gen people with the possibility of getting
rid of a leadership most of then detested, This explains the
nove by iniluential Gen leaders to join forces with anb2la, Even
sone like MNyanango who initially had supported Okeno Osare
switched support, saying he was a weak candidote, and gave a boost
to Ambala's candidacy, It is also along these lines of the
strength of the candidacy of Ambala that Odinga's support can be
explained, It is simplistic to see the support ir terns of
fimbola being Odinga's son~in-law and worse still to attribute
his victory to that relationship., Rather, 0Odinga went along with
the popular wishes of Gen people concerning which candidate
should win the election since all had a connon interest of replace
ment of Okero anyway, It is instructive to recall in this
connection that in 1974 Gen people returned Okero to parlianent
despite opposition to hiis candidacy by Odinga and his supporters
in Gen. It could not therefore be expected that they coull
autonatically vote for o candidate sinply because he had Odinga's
support, If Geu people were not rallying behind JAnbala already
for their own internal reasena his being Odinga's son-~in-law
would have been of 1ittle or no consequence at all for the final
outcome oX the election, In other words it was o nere coincidenc
that the candidate that emerged popular witih Gex people was 2l1so

a son~in-~law of Odinga¥*, '

*
There was widespread uncertainity all over Luolond whether ¢

people would vote out Okero until ofter the counting of vot
the annourcenent that Ckero had lost, I heard it said mony
one could not count »n Gen people going along with the roo:
Luoland, There was in fcci an elewent of . uistrust,
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The criticcl point is that & winningcoalition encrged
out of anbalals candidacy including Odinga oand his supporters,
In this coalition the influential Gen leaders facilitated the
organisation of the campaign and it was they who actually played
a crucial role in .Jnbtelals victory. It was possitle through
then to nake contacts and solicit support through clan leaders
thercby ensuring %ot anbala had 2 foothold in virtually all
parts of the constituency. His campaign organisation was there-

fore constituency wide unlike the rest of the candidates,

It was also Dbecause of the support of thesc leaders that
Aanbala gained credibility in the eyes ol Gen elcctorate despite
a concerted canpaign by his opponents that he is a Ja .lego,
Gen people could easily trust the word of these leaders 2s opposed
to Anbala hiuself, 1In addition, Anbala not being a political
orator hinself, the presencc of these leaders in his caopaign

rallies was a great boost to his canpaign,

On his part, inbala through his haranbee effort had
established 2 bose for the cagpaign which those joining forces
with hin couléd build on., He could be easily scen as a developuent
conscious leader, Furthernore his cfforts were not confincd to
only a certein part of Gen indicating that his inclination was

not to divide but to unite Gen.

In the conpaign period he denonstrated that he was also
accesille, roising-.the prospect that he would provide a respon-
sive lcadership., This he was able to do because of the financial
resources he had at his disposal. The noney distributed to
chief carcpaigners, canpaign 2gents, youth wingers and even voters
could easily convince then he would Le responding to their needs,

Thus wealth becane ~ nmajor factor in Anbala's victory in 1979,
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The results of the election in Bondo were that Ougo
won thc seat with 19,815 votes, He was followed by Onmamo who
got 14,452 votes, Last came Jalang'o Anyango who got 1,253
votes only, clearly showing that the battle was in fact between
Ougo and Omamo, But all the same the people of Bondo retained
Ouze as their MP for another tern, "It should however be
noted that unlike Okero in Gen Onano's popularity in Bondo since
he was elected in 1969 had been flactuating and not on a conti-
nous downward +trend. Omeno received 535 of votes cast in the
1969 Bondo election which was less spectacular than Okero's 77%.
Both nen then experienced a drop in 1974, Okero having 40% and
Onano getting 33%. But even though Okero retained his seat in
this election he experienced 2 bigger popularity drop (37'%) than
onano (20%) who lost to Ougo. Then came the 1979 election which
showed a dramatic turn of events in the popularity of the two
nen with the electorate, Omamo registered a positive gain (41%)
while Okero'!s was increasingly negative going down to as low as
16%.

The changing trend of Onano'!s popularity was & reflec-
tlon of Odinga -~ Onano dilenna of choice that Bondo people were
faced with, When Odinga had just come out of detention and was
trying to nake a political coreback he had very nmany syuapathisers
who rallied behind him. They were'all very willing to even give
support to his proxy when he was barred fron standing for parlia-
nentary elections, One needs to add that it was in fact a fairly
easy decision for then to make to vote for Ougo, the proxy who
was a political unknown and therefore had no political record
by which he could be judged in his own right, This was the tine,
1974 clection, when Onano's populerity was at its lowest while

‘Qgo was riding on the crest of his popularity.

However, the state of aifairs started changing signifi-
cantly as at the tine of caopaign for the 197S elections, This

change can be directly linked to <the common assumption in Luoland
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and particularly in Bondo that Odinge would be allowed to stand
for parliamentary eleéctions in 1979. The assunption actually
hinged on truth with the inougration of the Nyayo era. Even
Onano nust have felt that Odinga was going to stand in Bondo for
this particular election considering the decision he nade and
subsequent annowncenent that he was to contest the Kisuou and
not Bondo seat during the 1979 election, In the cnsc of Jugo
there was seeningly no ore talking about his candidacy for

Bondo or any other coxstituency,

It therefore looked for sore tine as if 0dinga would
get elected unoppose” and with ense becone Bondo MP agein. The
problen which remained unresolved was whether he was this tine going
to get KiNU party clearence in order to actually stand for the
elections. This is the question which preoccupicd the ninds
of Bondo people as the period fer campaign »roper approached and
there was an air of tension especially in Bondo centre, In
brief, the hopes of Bondo people were shattered, Odinga was
once again barred from standing for elections, This barring of
O0dinga yet again nust have raised doubts in the ninds of nost
Bonde people as to whether he would recllly ever be allowed to
contest parliamentary elections. Tollowing from that concern
there were those who were rnising the question that without
O0dinga who could fittingly occupy the position of MP in Bondo
leadership. These pcople it should be enphangised were not all
necessarily losing faith in Odinga a&s a leader within Bondo,
and even Luoland for that metter. They only wanted, given
the circuus tances, to choose a suitable MP, This worked
to Onano's advantage and was the source of Omano's apparent
gain in popwlarity such that his gtanding vig-a-~vis Qugo in
the 1979 was better than at the tine of 1974 elections,.

There were indications of Onano'!s gain soon after
nouination day orking the start ol the campAaigh proper. He

was at least prepered, to enter the 1979 Nlection Campaign
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He had exprescced his intention to stand and had built his own

following in Bondo after participating in two previous elections,
This was unlike Ouro who apart Irom not having his own political .
base was apparently also caught by surprise by the unexpected
barring of Odinga from entering the race, -The high expectation that
0dinga would stand meant that a large proportion of the electorate
had ruled out Ouzo's candidacy which he had in fact not declared,
He was really late to declare his candidacy and most people only
heard of his candidacy following the official nomina<vion, A
more fundamental problem was that he could not automatically
count on support for this particular election from

Odinga's following in the consitutency which he had relied on

in 1974, Since he had been an P for five years his leadership
qualities could therefore be guestioned by the electorate on the
basis of his recoxd as an MP and not just consider the mere link
with Odinga. Ouso was therefore facing an uphill task and even
Odinga sensed this. It is said that he ceutioned Ougo that the
going would be rough in this election meaning that they would
have to work haird to muster the necessary support and votes to
win the electicn., He was actually right, judging <irom the
reactions of the electorate towards Qugpo during the campaign

especially in the campaign rallies .

In the rallies Oupo's record as an MP was the major
point of heated debate which Omamo greatly exploited by humorously
making constant reference to. As already mentioned Ougo had not
participated actively in parliamentary debates., HE = was attecked
on this shartcoming by his opponents who said that people are elected
to go to parliament to speak there on beh2lf of their constituents
and one who declared that ne preferred to keep guiet could not
therefore be an MNP. Omamo further pointed out that Bondo had al-
ways had as their [0 prominent personalities, in particular
Jaramogi Odingna ond himsel Arudhi Kaliech, that put Bondo in

a nationwide pre-cminent position. In contrastOugo 's term had
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reduced Bondo to 2 diminutive position eguivelent to reduction from

an elephant size to the size of a rabbit.

dgo never denied having been a gquiet NP, He actunlly
admitted that he did not during his term try to engage in adventu-
rism so as to be seen o8 a dynamic MP. He instead cxercised modera-
tion, He was even proud of the saying in Luo with which he had
become identified that keeping g¢uiet is better than answering back
(ougo "ling loyo duoke") which was an expression of his stand,
It was also vamded -"toscy that Ougo Ochieng! hnd found keeping
quiet to be 2 good thing (Ougo Ochieng' ling' berne).  The
arguncnt oi Ougo concerning this issue of keeping quiet wags that
during the time he was elccted to be Bondo MP thec clrcumstances
.were such thet il he was a forceful and not a quiet leader Bondo
would have seen greater troubles as things were alrcady hot in
Bondo, It was therelforc fitting that Bondo went through a period
of calm and Sevenity gduring his time so that things could return

to normal. And this is what was actually happening.

Ougo was attacked by Omamo in particular over his
contribution towards harambee effort., COCmamo frecucently referred
to hig own days of harambec the size of an eclephant (Kaliech)
saying these werc no longer there due to Ougo's lack of initiative
and failure to provide leadership. He even nccused Ougo of having
donated cement to a certain harpubee project publicly but then went
stealthily afterwards snd toolt back his donation, This he said
was the wrong kind oi leader. A good leader he said should donate
generously, Furthermore he should bhe 5 person who can invite
other wealthy people to come and contribute towards pirojecct in his
area and do likewise in return. In other words scroatch my back
I scratch yours, translated into Luo by Omamo as "Ndeta ta Hdeti.
To say the least Ougo did not have much to show to counter accusa-
tions regnrding his poor performance in harsmbee. He could only

enumerate projectc the government had completed during his term
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s an MP such as laying tarmcsc on the Kisumu - Usengc road. The
argument he advanced was that - without the kind of peaceful
leadership he had provided all these may never have come to
fruition., But that was his own personal view as the listing
obviously did not impress those attending the campaign rallies who
interrupted him frequently and he a2lways had great difficulty

going through his list,

The remaining improtant parts of discussion during the
campaign rallies related to Luo leadership and unity problem and
the leadership position of Odinga. As a2lready mentioned Omamo
was believed to be working against Odinga with anti-Odinga forces
outside Bondo and was therefore being blamed for Odinga's plight
especially his being barred from contesting parliamentary elections.
In the rallies also, attacks were directed against Omamo along the

lines +that he was power hungry and out to oust Odinga,

The person who spearheadcd the attack was not Ougo but
Jalang'o Anyango. And he did it with so much vigour and ruthless-
ness that as the campaign progressed more and more people were
convinced that he had been planted with Odinga's blessing to

campailgn for Ougo.

Jalang'o Anyango charged that Omamo had all along been
playing a divisive role within the Luo community especially by
unsurping leadership of the Luo Union. Furthermore that he had
embezgled RIAT {unds which he had used to build his own private
wmagnificent house., He then concluded that since Omamo had been
denounced by the Luo community for all these misdeeds and develop-
ment requires cooperation between all Luo leaders he was not the
right person to be elected Bondo MP and should therefore be

rejected,
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Ougo!s major attack on Omamo also cmanated from
this leadership debate. The attack was spanked off by Omamo!s
critisism that Ougo as & leader was not always in the frontline
position as the case should be ir he were 2 good leader, He was
instead stcying ot the rear and therefore not lecading and the
people following, Ougo scornfully retorted that he did not believe
in Omano's kind of leadership by which Omamo had been imposing
himself on the people., He believed in the people choosing him to
be a leader and then listening to them as he had always done so
that whatever he does is in line with the people!s wishes, He
picked on Omamo!s having been in the Caretaker Comnmittee of Luo
Union that ousted Paul Mboya and translated carctaker to wmean in
Luo "I have taken using my own strength" (Akawo gi tekra),
Similarly, Omamo he said had taken over leadership of RIAT and also
Bondo division KANU leadership. The same tactics he alleged
Omano was apparently trying to use to dislodge hiw and becone
Bondo MP, The evidence of this was snid to haove been the abortive
secret manouvre by Omemo to have his (Ougo'!s) cawmpaign symbol
changed from Olith (Falcon) to a box. The box was taken to

mean a coffin and interprcted as a sign of bad onen,

The attack on Omawmo for trying to force his way into
leadership position was linked to his wealth which seemed to
concern his opponents greatly. Omamo was criticised in the
rallies for using his wealth to buy support and refercnce wade to
the presence of so nany of his supporters transported by his lorries
to the rallies as a sign that he was indeed using a lot of money in
the election caupaign, Jolang'o Anyango charged that Onmano was
not only buying off people but even hills and gave the exanple of
Got Abony, Another dimension of Jalang'os attack was that Onano
was enriching hinself at the expense of Bondo people., Got Abou for
instance would be for his own personal benefit and not the people
of Bondo., This was also the case os regards the supply of nilk to,

primary sahools which Omamo had acquired for himself & nmonopoly of
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egain for personal gain. And on the idea of inviting other
weolthy people to Bondo for harambee, Onmamo's "Ndeta ta Ndeti",
Jalang'o oargued this could be alright if say some one~hundred
Bondo people stood to benefit and not just one person, Ounano

nlone, was benefiting.

Onano remained undamted by the virulent attacks on his
wealth., He as a natter of fact, came out openly and defended his
wealth in the compaign rallies without nineing his words. The
point he was making was that he had we2lth and would even accunulate
nore because he was using his wealth for the benefit of Bondo
people. Thus he hnd undertaken the supply of nilk not only because
he wos the only rich person interested in accomplishing such 2
task but also becaude he was the one who would not have liked
to see children in Bondo failing to benefit fron the free Nyayo
nilk progronme., He was in the same spirit spending freely in his
canpnign because he wanted Bondo people to partake (Chuto jo Bondo)
of the election compaign noney he was allowed to spend by the
authorlties. The other candidctes, especiolly Ougo, by not
spending to the sopge tune 9s hinself he lanented were being
mean to Bondo people. He in fact urged his listeners to ask Ougo
Ochieng' to let Bondo people partake of this money (Ougo Ochieng!
ochutie jo Bondo)., It was in effect 2 challenge to Ougo to Spend

nore tioney.

It was also apparent in Omano'!s self praise to counter
attacks on him for his activities in Luo Union and RIAT that
he saw his wealth os an advantage ond that there was nothing wrong
obout being wealthy. He saw himself as having done a good thing
to have helped Luo Union out of a perpetualfinancial crisis
resul ting from embezzelment of funds, 1In contraSt to those who
were running the Union before him he claimed he had spent his own
aeney to the tune of % 100,000/= which the Union still owed hin

as at that tiue, The noney he said had been used to renovate
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Cfofa Menorial Hall whichh he s2id hod become so run down that
bots from Kano and Kajulu had nade it their nmating ground,
This he argued was 8 conspicuously disgraceful cyesore to the
Luo congunity as a whole for which prominent Luos like hinself
were needed to remedy the situation, He concluded that he had
therefore done a good oand not a bad thing, Likewise he haod done
8 good thing to have organized nmajor funds drive for RIAT saying
it had cultinated in the enrolment of students 2t the institution,
This he added was no nean task, And in an apparent reference to
Jalang'o, he further said that such things should not be talked
of lightly by those who were not even there when people struggled

to collect funds,

In countering the various attacks moinly directed to
his person the best thing Omamo had going for hin was his oratical
ability, This was coupled with having o loud veice that made hin
eudible thereby facilitnting communication of his nessage to the
audience in spite of the lack of a loudspeaker, He in 2ddition
made frequent use of Luo idioms and it was quite comnon for him to
break into hilarious Luo song and dance with his audience chanting
in chorus, He 2lsw invented a skilful use of his election synbol
wWhich was a lanp., This included 2 song couposed about the symbol
and gestures Jinvolving opening up of the hands ns if {hrowing n
bean of light which he termed "dim", Thus in his gpeeches after
hitting hard 2t his opponent he would ask the audience to nake
this gesture ("mie uru ¢im'), And ot the clove of his speech he
would burst into song: "Piny ka piny, taya liel; Ot ka ot, tayn
liel™

"Piny" here refers to "pinje' or locatiions that the Luos were
divided into during the colonial period, The translation of
the song is = that the lamp burns in every "piny" e.g. Uyons
Asenbo etc,, and in every house,
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But it should be noted that all the song and dance and loud
applause from the audience would not have been easy if Omano

did not ferry many of his supporters to the cawpaign rallies a8
alrendy nentioned., There were actually complaints heard when

the rallies becane rowdy in Uyoma and Yimbo that thoSe causing
trouble were people ferried from Sakwa, And when rallies becane
rowdy within Sakwn itself people froum Omano's Kapiyy clan were
blamed. It was furthermore quietly whispered by sone people that
nll those shouting in support of Omamo had been given noney by
hia, The group of peoplc raising voices of dissent did not join
in the shouting when the rest of the crowd was in jubilation
roaring back to Onamo '"dim, dim, dio". They were instead, not so
loudly but defiantly, saying "idong!' idong', idong'" neaning
you are not going to be elected. And although they seemed an
insignificant ninority it turned out that they were right, Onano
ended up losing despite the inpressive showing at the rnllies
indicating clearly the existence of a strong opposing force to
his caondidacy in Bondo. YThis force did not openly nmanifest
itself particularly in caupaign rallies., This can partly be atiri-
buted to the fact that, unlike Gen, in Bondo only the cocndidate
contesting the elections spoke at the rallies. Thus there were
no influential persons addressing the rallies as in the case of
Ambala in Gen from which one could deduce the alliances and hence
the conditions. A useful inpression was, however, gained fron
the composition of supporters of Omamo and Ougo in the rallies.
It was evident that practically all supporters of Onano were

relatively youthiul, and nost of them originated from his Kapiyo

clan. They werc quite aggressive in their rounds of campaign,
horsh to their opponents end even insulted them 2t times. The
Supporters of Ougo were only a handful et the rallies and quite

few compared to Quanmo supporters, They were more nature, much

less aggressive and were devoid of the harshness which characteri-
sed Omamo supporters, They m&inly concentrated on singing before

end after the relly rlapping their arms like wings of 2 bird to
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denonstrate Qugo's Olith symbol. Anong them one could identify
some who had been youth wingers in the earlier elecctions going as
far back os elections for independence, They were nostly fron
Sakwa and not Asenbo as one would have expected and sonme of then

had had 2 long association with Odinga.

The important inierence is that just as in 1974 Ougo
was using the politic2l campa2ign network of Odinga which sprecd
throughout Bondd., Ouamo lacked such o network -and this can be
said to have been his major undoing. In the circunstances he,.
apart fron sending his agents to dish out noney to the electorate
concentrated on the public rallies.